Appellants,

v.

R & O CONSTRUCTION, INC.

Respondent.

Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada, in and for County of Clark

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

Donald J. Campbell, Esq. (#1216) J. Colby Williams, Esq. (#5549) Philip R. Erwin, Esq. (#11563) Samuel R. Mirkovich, Esq. (#11662) CAMPBELL & WILLIAMS 700 South Seventh Street Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 Telephone: (702) 382-5222

Counsel for Appellants

RULE 26.1 DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

I. JURISDICTION

This is an appeal from the district court's order granting R&O's motion to dismiss pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(5). JA 638-641. In that same order, the district court granted NRCP 54(b) certification and specifically determined, directed and certified that, there being no just reason for delay, final judgment should be entered in favor of R&O. *Id.* As such, the Court has appellate jurisdiction pursuant to Nev. Const., Art. 6, § 4 and NRS 2.090.

II. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether the district court erred by dismissing the Gardners' claim for reverse veil-piercing under the alter ego doctrine because they did not allege negligence or other tortious conduct against R&O and, in any event, they are first required to (i) proceed to trial against Orluff Opheikens (the alleged alter ego of R&O), (ii) obtain a judgment against him, and (iii) unsuccessfully attempt to collect on that judgment for an indeterminate amount of time before being able to pursue such a theory of recovery?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises from the severe non-fatal drowning of six-year old Leland Gardner ("Leland") on May 27, 2015 in the wave pool at the Cowabunga Bay water park in Henderson, Nevada. Cowabunga Bay is owned and operated by Defendant Henderson Water Park, LLC ("HWP"). HWP's membership is comprised of two limited liability companies ("LLCs"), West Coast Water Parks, LLC and Double Ott Water Holdings, LLC (the "Member-LLCs"). HWP is operated by the seven individuals who personally serve on HWP's Management Committee and exercise complete control over every aspect of Cowabunga Bay's operations, including the illegal conduct that resulted in Leland's devastating injuries.¹

On July 28, 2015, the Gardners filed the Complaint in the underlying action and brought claims for negligence against HWP and the Member-LLCs. JA 1-8. On May 5, 2016, the Gardners sought leave to (i) assert direct claims for negligence against the Individual Defendants, and (ii) plead allegations under the alter ego doctrine against HWP, the Member-LLCs and the Individual Defendants. The district court denied the Gardners' request for leave to assert direct claims for negligence against the Individual Defendants on grounds that LLC members and

¹ The seven members of HWP's Management Committee are Orluff Opheikens ("Orluff"), Slade Opheikens, Chet Opheikens, Tom Welch, Shane Huish, Scott Huish and Craig Huish (collectively referred to as the "Individual Defendants"). Orluff, Slade Opheikens, Chet Opheikens, and Tom Welch will be collectively referred to as the "Opheikens Defendants," and Shane Huish, Scott Huish and Craig Huish will be collectively referred to as the "Huish Defendants."

managers are completely immune from liability under NRS Chapter 86. The district court further held that the Gardners were barred from bringing alter ego claims because the doctrine does not apply to LLCs.

As a result, the Gardners filed a Petition for Writ of Mandamus, which was granted by this Court on November 22, 2017. *See Gardner on Behalf of L.G. v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court*, 405 P.3d 651 (Nev. 2017) ("*Gardner I*"). Specifically, this Court held that the Gardners could pursue negligence claims against the Individual Defendants based on their own tortious conduct. This Court likewise held that the alter ego doctrine applied to LLCs and reinstated the Gardners' claims against HWP, the Member-LLCs and the Individual Defendants. The Gardners filed their Second Amended Complaint on December 17, 2017 and named the Individual Defendants in this action. JA 18. The Gardners also re-named the Member-LLCs as alter ego defendants only. $Id.^2$

Thereafter, the Gardners promptly commenced discovery related to their claims against the Individual Defendants. The Gardners obtained extensive documentation that was previously undisclosed by HWP, and conducted the depositions of Orluff,

² The district court also granted summary judgment on the Gardners' direct claims for negligence against the Member-LLCs based on the same flawed reasoning that LLC managers and members are wholly immune from suit. The Gardners appealed the district court's ruling. This Court held that NRS Chapter 86 does not shield LLC members and managers from liability for personal negligence, but nevertheless affirmed the district court's ruling because the Gardners did not specify how any individual act or omission by the Member-LLCs contributed to Leland's injuries. *See Gardner v. Henderson Water Park, LLC*, 399 P.3d 350 (Nev. 2017).

Slade Opheikens, Tom Welch and Scott Huish. *Id.* This discovery conclusively demonstrated that Orluff obtained an ownership stake and managerial control of Cowabunga Bay to protect his primary business, R&O, from devastating financial losses and severe reputational harm resulting from the lack of financing for the construction of Cowabunga Bay.³ *Id.* In order to facilitate this plan, R&O loaned Orluff millions of dollars to capitalize the Cowabunga Bay project with the understanding that those funds would be used to pay R&O's significant unpaid construction costs and subcontractor fees. *Id.* R&O, along with Orluff, likewise signed as a borrower on a \$12.2 million loan from Bank of Utah that was used to complete the construction of Cowabunga Bay and fund its operations, the profits from which would flow back to R&O in the form of loan repayments. *Id.*

At all relevant times, Orluff governed and influenced his alter ego, R&O, and acted with a unity of interest and ownership towards the common purpose of making R&O whole and extricating the company from the "nightmare" situation created by the failed construction of Cowabunga Bay. *Id.* Because this arrangement blurred the corporate fiction and allowed R&O to reap the benefits of a fully constructed and operational Cowabunga Bay while attempting to avoid the liability caused by the negligent (and illegal) mismanagement of Orluff and his fellow Management

³ R&O was hired as the general contractor for the construction of Cowabunga Bay. JA 18. Within months of breaking ground, R&O was forced to halt construction of Cowabunga Bay due to millions of dollars in unpaid construction costs that left its subcontractors on the verge of bankruptcy. *Id*.

Committee members, the Gardners sought leave to amend their complaint to pursue a reverse piercing theory against Orluff Opheikens and R&O. JA 15-44.

Though the district court reluctantly granted the Gardners leave to file their Third Amended Complaint to pursue a reverse veil-piercing claim against Orluff and R&O, it simultaneously invited the filing of a motion to dismiss. JA 356-357. R&O and the Opheikens Defendants subsequently moved to dismiss the Gardners' reverse veil-piercing claim on a number of different grounds, including that it was barred in the absence of an uncollectible judgment on the Gardners' predicate claim of negligence against Orluff. JA 450-530. In the face of abundant legal authority supporting the viability of the Gardners' reverse veil-piercing claim and notwithstanding this Court's prior writ of mandamus permitting the Gardners to pursue traditional alter ego claims in the absence of a predicate judgment, the district court granted R&O's motion to dismiss. JA 638-641. After the district court granted NRCP 54(b) certification of its order, the Gardners filed the instant appeal.

IV. STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. On June 18, 2018, the Gardners filed their Motion for Leave to File Third Amended Complaint and named R&O as an alter ego defendant only. JA 15-44. As stated previously, the Gardners alleged that R&O is the alter ego of Orluff under a reverse veil-piercing theory such that R&O may be held liable for his individual negligence. *Id*. 2. On July 5, 2018, the Opheikens Defendants filed their Opposition to the Motion for Leave to File Third Amended Complaint based on futility grounds. JA 45-334. In opposing the Gardners' request for leave to amend, the Opheikens Defendants asserted that the Gardners improperly identified their reverse veil-piercing claim as a "cause of action" and that the claim was unavailable in the absence of an uncollectible judgment against Orluff. JA 45-63.

3. The Gardners filed their Reply in Support of Motion for Leave to File Third Amended Complaint on July 18, 2018. JA 335-346.

4. The district court conducted a hearing on the Gardners' request for leave to amend on July 25, 2018. The district court began the hearing with the astonishing remark to the Gardners' counsel that "[y]ou guys are emboldened by the Supreme Court saying you can sue anybody you want, so now you want to bring in more people, right?" JA 349. After hearing argument, the district court stated that "because of the fact that the Supreme Court reversed me on the amending of other parties, if I'm going to deny the motion or if I'm going to dismiss this party because of the fact that there's not a judgment debtor or creditor relationship, doesn't it make more sense to do that on a motion to dismiss standard[?]" JA 356. The district court then granted the Gardners' motion for leave to amend and informed the parties "I'll see you when [the Opheikens Defendants] file their motion to dismiss." JA 359.

5. The district court entered its order granting the Gardners leave to file the Third Amended Complaint along with the notice of entry thereof on July 30, 2018. JA

6

366-378. The Gardners filed their Third Amended Complaint that same day. JA 379-398.

 The Opheikens Defendants (along with Double Ott Water Holdings, LLC) filed their Answer to the Third Amended Complaint on August 16, 2018. JA 408-418.

7. On August 31, 2018, R&O filed its Motion to Dismiss and advanced multiple arguments in support of dismissal. JA 450-506. First, R&O argued that reverse veil-piercing is not a viable pre-judgment claim for relief because an uncollectible judgment against Orluff is a necessary element. JA 452-453. Second, R&O contended the Gardners' reverse veil-piercing claim was inadequately pleaded because the Third Amended Complaint alleged Orluff owned stock in R&O through his family trust and, according to R&O, personal ownership of the target corporation is a requirement under NRS 78.747. JA 454-458.⁴ Third, R&O asserted the Gardners' reverse veil-piercing claim was inadequately pleaded because they did not

⁴ The Gardners based their allegation that Orluff owned eighty-five percent (85%) of R&O through his family trust on the deposition testimony of Slade Opheikens. JA 545. In support of its misleading argument that Orluff did not personally own shares in the corporation, R&O improperly submitted a partial copy of Orluff's family trust agreement on grounds the document was incorporated by reference in the Third Amended Complaint. JA 504-506. While the Gardners objected to the attachment of extraneous evidence, the Gardners submitted e-mail correspondence from R&O's Chief Financial Officer that was obtained after the filing of the Third Amended Complaint reflecting Orluff's personal ownership of shares in R&O during the relevant time period. JA 548-550, 559-560. In sum, the exact nature of Orluff's ownership of R&O is an open question although the law is clear that ownership of stock is not controlling on the issue of alter ego liability. JA 545-550.

use the word "manifest" in alleging that adherence to the corporate fiction would sanction a fraud or promote manifest injustice. JA 458-461. Fourth, R&O urged the district court to adopt the federal pleading standard, claiming that the Gardners' reverse veil-piercing was inadequately pleaded under *Iqbal-Twombly*. JA 461-464.

8. Despite the fact that they had already answered the Third Amended Complaint, the Opheikens Defendants filed their "Comprehensive Joinder" to R&O's Motion to Dismiss on September 11, 2018. JA 507-530. The Opheikens Defendants reiterated their prior arguments that the Gardners incorrectly labelled their reverse veil-piercing claim as a cause of action and that reverse veil-piercing is only available in post-judgment proceedings. JA 512-514, 521-525. The Opheikens Defendants further claimed that the Gardners could not pursue a reverse veil-piercing theory because it would adversely impact other shareholders and creditors of R&O.⁵ JA 514-521. Finally, the Opheikens Defendants also asked the district court to adopt the *Iqbal-Twombly* standard and dismiss the Gardners' reverse veil-piercing claim. JA 525.

On September 20, 2018, the Gardners filed their Opposition to R&O's
Motion to Dismiss and the Opheikens Defendants' Joinder thereto. JA 531-560.

⁵ Like R&O, the Opheikens Defendants improperly submitted extraneous evidence from outside of the pleadings in the form of an affidavit from Slade Opheikens. JA 528-530.

10. On October 3, 2018, R&O and the Opheikens Defendants filed their respective Replies in Support of the Motion to Dismiss. JA 561-597.

On October 10, 2018, the district court conducted a hearing on R&O's 11. Motion to Dismiss and the Opheikens Defendants' Joinder therein. At the outset, the district court indicated its mistaken belief that R&O's motion sought the dismissal of the Gardners' direct claims for negligence against the Individual Defendants. JA 602. After receiving clarification on the purpose of the motion and hearing argument from counsel, the district court found that the Gardners first needed to obtain a judgment against Orluff, and then establish that the judgment is uncollectible, before being able to pursue a reverse veil-piercing theory against R&O. JA 621-629. Otherwise, the court found, "it's only to try and get a deep pocket or another pocket [and] I don't think that the statute or the cases anticipate or say that's what we want to happen." JA 621. The district court stated that permitting the Gardners to proceed against R&O would "confuse[] the issue for a jury" under NRS 48.035 because "[t]here isn't any allegation that I see in this case that R&O did anything individually wrong [or] that there's any liability on their part for any actions done on anybody's part for R&O." JA 621-622.⁶ Rather than phase or bifurcate the

⁶ This finding tracks the district court's apparent misunderstanding of this Court's decision in *Gardner I*. During the hearing, the district court stated that "what I remember from the Supreme Court's decision in this case was that they allowed the alter ego claims based on the allegations that [] those individuals did something individually wrong and that there was some individual negligence on their part." JA 627. In other words, the district court believed that this Court's prior decision

trial to address potential jury confusion as suggested by the Gardners, the district court dismissed their reverse veil-piercing claim because "[dismissal] makes more sense than to [] clutter up a negligence case." JA 625. Based on those findings, the district court granted R&O's Motion to Dismiss. JA 629.

12. The district court entered its Order Granting R&O's Motion to Dismiss on October 23, 2018. JA 638-641. The district court's written order restated its findings from the hearing as follows: "[p]ursuant to LFC Marketing Group, Inc. v. Loomis, 116 Nev. 896, 8 P.3d 841 (2000), NRS 78.747, and because Plaintiffs' sole claim for relief against R&O does not allege negligence or any other wrongful conduct by R&O and will, therefore, confuse the jury, Plaintiffs are barred from asserting their claim for relief for reverse piercing of the corporate veil against R&O prior to an uncollectible judgment being entered in this case against Orluff Opheikens." Id. Accordingly, the district court found "that Plaintiffs have failed to state a claim against R&O upon which relief may be granted" and dismissed the Gardners' reverse veil-piercing claim. Id. Finally, "there being no just reason for delay, this Court determine[d], direct[ed] and certifie[d] that final judgment is entered in favor of R&O pursuant to NRCP 54(b)." Id.

provides that a plaintiff must allege negligence or other tortious misconduct to proceed on an alter ego theory of recovery against a defendant. *Id.* This is clearly incorrect as the alter ego and personal negligence theories at issue in *Gardner I* are distinct and independent concepts.

13. R&O filed the Notice of Entry of Order Granting R&O's Motion to Dismiss on October 24, 2018. JA 642-649.

14. On October 25, 2018, the Gardners filed their Notice of Appeal in the district court, and subsequently filed the same in this Court on October 30, 2018. *See* Notice of Appeal (on file).

V. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court committed clear error when it dismissed the Gardners' reverse veil-piercing claim on grounds that such relief is only available in postjudgment collection proceedings. Nevada law does not require that a plaintiff first obtain an uncollectible judgment before pursuing a reverse veil-piercing claim. In that regard, courts from other jurisdictions have frequently permitted plaintiffs to bring reverse veil-piercing claims in the original complaint. The district court further erred by finding that the Gardners cannot seek to pierce the corporate veil of R&O in reverse absent of allegations of negligence or other tortious conduct by R&O. And, of course, the potential for jury confusion cannot serve as the basis to dismiss a legally viable claim for relief under NRCP 12(b)(5). The Court should, therefore, reverse the district court's order dismissing the Gardners' reverse veil-piercing claim against R&O.

VI. ARGUMENT⁷

A. Standard Of Review.

Dismissal is permissible under NRCP 12(b)(5) "only if it appears beyond a doubt that [the plaintiff] could prove no set of facts, which, if true, would entitle [the plaintiff] to relief." *Torres v. Nev. Direct Ins. Co.*, 131 Nev. Adv. Op. 54, 353 P.3d 1203, 1210 (2015) (quoting *Buzz Stew, LLC v. City of N. Las Vegas*, 124 Nev. 224, 227-28, 181 P.3d 670, 672 (2008)). This Court "rigorously review[s] orders granting NRCP 12(b)(5) motions to dismiss, presuming all alleged facts in the complaint to be true and drawing all inferences in favor of the plaintiff." *Facklam v. HSBC Bank USA for Deutsche ALT-A Sec. Mortg. Loan Trust*, 401 P.3d 1068, 1070 (Nev. 2017). The Court reviews all legal conclusions de novo. *Id*.⁸

.

.

⁷ As stated previously, R&O and the Opheikens Defendants raised numerous arguments in support of their request for dismissal. The district court, however, did not enter findings on those arguments—many of which were not advanced at the hearing—and dismissed the Gardners' reverse veil-piercing claim on the sole basis that such relief was not available prior to the entry of an uncollectible judgment. As such, the Gardners will not address those other arguments here, but reserve the right to do so in reply should R&O advance these arguments as alternative grounds for affirming the district court's order of dismissal.

⁸ R&O and the Opheikens Defendants improperly attached evidence outside of the pleadings as exhibits to their respective filings, but the district court stated in its order that it did not consider such evidence in rendering its decision. JA 638-641.

B. The Gardners May Pursue A Claim For Reverse Veil-Piercing Against R&O Prior To The Entry Of An Uncollectible Judgment Against Orluff.

Nevada has long recognized that reverse veil-piercing under the alter ego doctrine is a viable legal theory. "While the classic alter ego situation involves a creditor reaching the personal assets of a controlling individual to satisfy a corporation's debt, the 'reverse' piercing situation involves a creditor reaching the assets of a corporation to satisfy the debt of a corporate insider based on a showing that the corporate entity is really the alter ego of the individual." *LFC Mktg. Grp., Inc. v. Loomis*, 116 Nev. 896, 903, 8 P.3d 841, 845-46 (2000). In *Loomis*, the Court explained that "reverse piercing is not inconsistent with traditional piercing in its goal of preventing abuse of the corporate form[;]" holding that "reverse piercing is appropriate in those limited instances where the particular facts and equities show the existence of an alter ego relationship and require that the corporate fiction be ignored so that justice may be promoted." *Id.* at 904, 9 P.3d at 846.

To plead a viable reverse piercing theory, the Gardners must simply allege facts sufficient to demonstrate the basic elements for finding alter ego under Nevada law. *Id.* More specifically, the Gardners must allege that (1) the corporation was influenced and governed by the person asserted to be the alter ego; (2) there was such unity of interest and ownership that one is inseparable from the other; and (3) the facts are such that adherence to the corporate fiction of a separate entity would, under the circumstances, sanction a fraud or promote manifest injustice. *Id.* at 904, 8 P.3d at

846-47; NRS 78.747 (codifying the three common law elements of alter ego established by longstanding Nevada jurisprudence).

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