#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Electronically Filed
Jan 16 2019 02:22 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown

PETER and CHRISTIAN GARDNER, individually and Othersholf Supreme Court child, LELAND GARDNER,

Appellants,

V.

**R&O CONSTRUCTION, INC.** 

Respondent.

Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court of State of Nevada, in and for County of Clark

#### RESPONDENT'S OPENING BRIEF

Karen J. Porter, Esq. (13099)
Jeffrey S. Vail, Esq. *Admitted Pro Hac Vice*Brett M. Godfrey, Esq. *Admitted Pro Hac Vice*GODFREY JOHNSON, P.C.
9557 S. Kingston Ct.
Englewood, Colorado 80112
Telephone: (303) 228-0700

Counsel for Respondent

#### **RULE 26.1 DISCLOSURE STATEMENT**

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

#### V. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Appellants' attempt to reverse pierce the corporate veil and hold R&O liable for any judgment against Orluff as his *alter ego* suffers from at least two fatal deficiencies. First, to support any finding of alter ego, Nevada Revised Statute § 78.747(2)(b) requires unity of ownership between the parties. Here, Appellants fail to effectively to plead that Orluff has any ownership in R&O, instead trying to sneak by on the vague and contradictor language that "Orluff, *through his family trust*, owns approximately eighty-five percent" of R&O. JA 381 ¶ 14 (emphasis added).

Next, Appellants entirely fail to plead the require element that failure to make a finding of alter ego would "sanction fraud or promote manifest injustice." NRS § 78.747(2)(c). Their only even theoretical position here is that *if* there is ultimately a judgment against Orluff, and *if* it cannot be collected, then it would be unjust to not provide some deep-pocketed corporation to pay the bill. Extenuated assumptions about unknown future events and their impact—indeed, events that it is the very purpose of trial to resolve—cannot serve as a pleading of present injustice. Furthermore, Appellants are impermissibly seeking an *equitable remedy* on the basis the their fully available (and asserted) *remedy at law* might ultimately pay them less money than they would like. For these reasons, this Court should affirm the dismissal of R&O.

#### VI. ARGUMENT

#### A. Standard of Review

Dismissal is permissible under NRCP 12(b)(5) "only if it appears beyond a doubt that [the plaintiff] could prove no set of facts, which, if true, would entitle [the plaintiff] to relief." *Torres v. Nev. Direct Ins. Co.*, 131 Nev. Adv. Op. 54, 353 P.3d 1203, 1210 (2015)(quoting *Buzz Stew, LLC v. City of N. Las Vegas*, 124 Nev. 224, 227-28, 181 P.3d 670, 672 (2008)). This court "rigorously review[s] orders granting NRCP 12(b)(5) motions to dismiss, presuming all alleged facts in the complaint to be true and drawing all inferences in favor of the plaintiff." *Facklam v. HSBC Bank* 

USA for Deustche ALT-A Sec. Mortg. Loan Trust, 401 P.3d 1068, 1070 (Nev. 2017). The Court reviews all legal conclusions de novo. *Id*.

#### B. Mandatory Elements to Prove an Alter Ego Claim in Nevada

Reverse veil-piercing is a species of *alter ego* claim, *see LFC Marketing Group, Inc. v. Loomis*, 8 P.3d 841, 846 (Nev. 2000), and must therefore meet the requirements set forth by the Nevada Legislature to prove *alter ego* in Nevada Revised Statute § 78.747 (2001). In order to conduct a reverse-pierce, the entity to be pierced must be found to be the *alter ego* of the entity to which liability has been assigned. While Nevada has significant *alter ego* jurisprudence, it is essential to consider the relationship between this case law and the 2001 statute passed by the Nevada Legislature in determining the current status of Nevada's *alter ego* law.

By statute, in order to state a claim for alter ego liability in Nevada, a plaintiff must allege all of the following:

- (a) The corporation is influenced and governed by the stockholder, director or officer;
- (b) There is such **unity of interest and ownership** that the corporation and the stockholder, director or officer are inseparable from each other; and
- (c) Adherence to the corporate fiction of a separate entity would sanction fraud or promote manifest injustice.

NRS § 78.747 (emphasis added). The two key questions in this appeal are (1) whether Appellants have adequately pleaded that there is "unity of . . . ownership" between Orluff and R&O, *see* **Section C**, *infra*, and (2) whether Appellants have

adequately pleaded that failure to find that R&O is the *alter* ego of Orluff "would sanction fraud or promote manifest injustice." *See* **Section D**, *infra*. If Appellants have failed to adequately plead either of these mandatory elements, then they have failed to state a claim for which relief may be granted, and the dismissal of R&O must be affirmed.

Nevada's statutory requirements for a finding of *alter ego* were expressly enacted in 2001 to narrow the potential for application of the *alter ego* doctrine in light of recent case law providing for flexible and open-ended tests for *alter ego*. For example, the Nevada Supreme Court, on September 19, 2000 in *Loomis*, set forth a flexible and disjunctive balancing test for a finding of *alter ego*, and stated that "[a]lthough ownership of corporate shares is a strong factor favoring unity of ownership and interest, the absence of corporate ownership is not automatically a controlling event." *Id.*, 8 P.3d at 847. In response, less than one year later, on June 15, 2001, the Nevada Legislature enacted NRS § 78.747 which codified specific, fixed requirements <u>all of which must be shown</u> to establish *alter ego* liability.

The statutory language enacted by the Nevada Legislature does not create the kind of balancing test that is open to flexible interpretation, such as the Nevada Supreme Court had previously endorsed in *Loomis*. *Id.*, 8 P.3d at 846. Rather, the statute's test is explicit and conjunctive—a finding of *alter ego* liability requires the existence of "unity of interest **and** ownership." NRS § 78.747(2)(b) (emphasis

Supreme Court tell us that the word "and creates a conjunctive list," *Humphries v. New York-New York Hotel & Casino*, 403 P.3d 358, 362 (Nev. 2017) (citations omitted), and that it is presumed to be used in a statute conjunctively "unless there is *clear* legislative intent to the contrary." *Dezzani v. Kern & Assoc., Ltd.*, 412 P.3d 56, 60 (Nev. 2018) (citations omitted) (emphasis in original).

Here, the legislative intent behind S.B. 577, the bill that enacted NRS § 78.747, shows no evidence that the phrase "interest and ownership" should not create a conjunctive requirement for both. Id., at § 78.747(2)(b). Rather, the legislature demonstrated a clear intent to "limit common law and statutory liability" under the alter ego doctrine. NV. Assem. Comm. Min. 6/1/2001 (Ways and Means), JA 469. Indeed, the intent of the legislature was to strike a bargain—to raise corporate filing fees to fund education, and in exchange "guarantee that Nevada was the 'domicile of choice' for corporations around the country" and "that Nevada's corporate laws were the best, most inviting for business." NV. Assem. Comm. Min. 6/1/2001 Critically, the legislature repeatedly questioned and (Judiciary), JA 495. summarized the negative effects of Nevada's common law *alter ego* jurisprudence, focusing on both the *Polaris Indus. Corp. v. Kaplan*, 747 P.2d 884 (Nev. 1987), case, and the problem of "no fixed criteria to use the alter ego doctrine to pierce the corporate veil" demonstrated in both *Polaris* and the then most recent *alter ego* case, Loomis, 8 P.3d at 846. See JA 499. It was this need to create a clear, "fixed" criteria for the courts to use in making alter ego determinations that was "the carrot' of the liability law . . . [to] 'the stick' of increased fees." Id. Accordingly, to the extent the plain language of the statute is not sufficiently clear on its face, the legislative history certainly shows intent that a court must find both unity of "interest and ownership" to make a finding of alter ego. NRS § 78.747(2)(b) (emphasis added). As argued below, Appellants' Third Amended Complaint contains no coherent allegation that Orluff Opheikens owns a single share of R&O. Therefore, R&O cannot be Orluff's alter ego because the Third Amended Complaint fails as a matter of law to allege the required unity of ownership.

# C. Appellants Have Failed to Plead the Required Unity of Ownership Between Orluff and R&O to Permit a Finding that R&O is the Alter Ago of Orluff

Without any ownership by Orluff of shares in R&O, it cannot be his *alter ego* as a matter of law. *See* NRS § 78.747, and **Section (B)**, *supra*. On this point, Appellants make only a single, internally contradictory allegation concerning ownership: that "Orluff, *through his family trust*, owns approximately eighty-five percent (85%) of the outstanding shares in R&O." JA 381 ¶ 14 (emphasis added). As a matter of law, either Orluff *or* The Opheikens Family Trust can own these shares, but not both. *See* Bogert's THE LAW OF TRUSTS AND TRUSTEES, § 148 ("trust creation has as one of its elements a *change* of possession" of the trust *res* from

grantor to trustee) (emphasis added); § 28 (defining property interest in trust *res* post-creation as "both trustee and beneficiary own the same thing," with no interest in grantor); *and* § 42 ("After a settlor has completed the creation of a trust . . . [he] has no rights, liabilities, or powers with regard to the trust administration . . . [and] has no power to revoke or modify [an irrevocable trust]."). Indeed, the fundamental purpose of placing any property in a trust is to legally and effectively separate it from the property of the grantor. *See id.* § 148. The Court has no obligation to accept as true Appellants' allegations concerning the question of ownership, not only because their sole allegation on this point contradicts itself, but because the concept of ownership is a legal conclusion which courts are not bound to accept. *Allen v. U.S.*, 964 F. Supp. 2d 1239, 1251 (D. Nev. 2013).

Here, Appellants also appear to have left their allegations concerning The Opheikens Family Trust intentionally vague, as though that would buy them 'wiggle room' in the face of a clear and strictly construed *alter ego* statute. They make no allegations, for example, as to the identity of the grantor, the trustee, or the beneficiaries, just the inadvertent implication that by calling it a "family trust," JA 381 ¶ 14, it presumably acts to *separate* ownership of R&O from Orluff.

The Third Amended Complaint fails to coherently and effectively allege that Orluff has *any ownership at all* in R&O. Accordingly, as a matter of law, without any allegation of ownership, there can be no "unity of interest *and ownership*"

between Orluff and R&O as required by NRS § 78.747(2)(b). *Id.* (emphasis added); *See also Cuomo v. Deluca & Assoc.*, *P.C.*, Case No. 66484 (Nev. Jan 15, 2016), 2016 WL 207658 (where a single required element of a claim is missing, the claim must be dismissed under NRS 12(b)(5)). Therefore, Appellants have failed to state valid *alter ego* claim against R&O, and the dismissal of R&O should be affirmed.

# D. Appellants Have Failed to Plead that, Absent a Finding that R&O Is the Alter Ego of Orluff, the Court Would be Sanctioning Fraud or Promoting manifest Injustice

As set forth above, one of the statutory requirements for any valid *alter ego* claim is a showing that, absent a finding of *alter ego*, the court would "sanction fraud or promote a manifest injustice." NRS § 78.747(2)(c). Appellants make no allegation at any point in the Third Amended Complaint that either Orluff or R&O are in any way involved in a "fraud." *See generally*, JA 379-397. Therefore, Appellants instead must allege that maintaining R&O's corporate separateness from Orluff would somehow "promote a manifest injustice." NRS § 78.747(2)(c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> While the word "fraudulent" occurs twice in a conclusory listing ("grossly negligent, reckless, willful, intentional, oppressive, fraudulent, malicious, and done in reckless disregard," JA 392, 394 ¶¶ 62, 70), there is no actual discussion of fraud, nor any allegations that could possibly meet the heightened pleading requirements of N.R.C.P. 9.

# 1. Appellants have failed to plead any grounds on which R&O's dismissal will "promote manifest injustice."

Appellants, however, nowhere allege that reverse veil-piercing in this case would avoid *manifest* injustice. Rather, they make only the conclusory and facially-insufficient allegation that "adherence to the corporate fiction of R&O [would] . . . promote injustice." JA 396 ¶ 79. First, Appellants are pleading a conclusion of law, and this Court is in no way required to accept it as true. *Allen*, 964 F. Supp. 2d at 1251. However, even if this Court were to accept that conclusory allegation as true, it does not meet the statutory requirement for "manifest injustice." NRS § 78.747(3). The Nevada Legislature specifically added the word "manifest" to the prior Nevada Supreme Court's expression of the common law requirement that a proponent of an *alter ego* claim must allege it would "promote injustice." *Loomis*, 8 P.3d at 847 (quoting *Polaris*, 747 P.2d at 886). They did so to "ensure that Nevada's corporate laws were the best, the most inviting for business." JA 495.

The importance of this statutory 'manifest injustice' requirement goes far beyond a single word. Its effect is to create a heightened pleading requirement that any pleading of the *legal conclusion* of injustice must be supported by a detailed and coherent set of factual allegations such that it is *manifest* – "clear and obvious."

OXFORD ENGLISH DICTIONARY, 3d.<sup>2</sup> Despite throwing out additional legal conclusions, such as calling it a "scheme," JA 386 ¶ 36, and stating without factual adornment the legal conclusion that Orluff was "a straw man owner," id., Appellants have pleaded no facts that in any way support the conclusion that protecting the corporate separateness of R&O would be in any way unjust. Appellants even admit that "R&O did not make a profit from the construction of Cowabunga Bay and even waived its lucrative general contractor fee." *Id.* Indeed, Appellants' own allegations of the motivation behind the waterpark's business structure explain that the goal was not to defraud a young boy and his family, but rather to "eventually generate sufficient funds to [repay the loan and thereby] make R&O whole," "so R&O could recover its construction costs and pay its subcontractors." JA 385, 396 ¶¶ 29, 81. That is nothing more than a prudent business decision, and Appellants make no allegation of how this "scheme," JA 386 ¶ 36, would ever work an injustice on anyone, let alone the required "manifest injustice" to Appellants. 78.747(2)(c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Black's Law Dictionary (10th ed. 2014) defines manifest injustice only as it operates as a standard for appellate review: "A direct, obvious, and observable error in a trial court, such as a defendant such as a defendant's guilty plea that is involuntary or is based on a plea agreement that the prosecution has rescinded."

# 2. Pre-Judgment, the theoretical potential for an uncollectable judgment cannot be used to meet the statutory requirement to plead manifest injustice.

In reality, the "injustice" Plaintiffs are concerned about is the theoretical potential for an unpaid judgment. Their concern is that, *if* there is a judgment against Orluff Opheikens, and *if* that judgment cannot be satisfied, then Appellants' attorneys may lose out on a multi-million-dollar contingency fee unless they can find some—*any*—deep pockets to pay. Here, Appellants believe they have found a suitable set of deep pockets in R&O.

Appellants' attempt to disguise their avarice by setting up a straw-man standard that they propose this Court reject: they claim this Court must either adopt the rule that reverse piercing is never available pre-judgment, or else reverse and remand this dismissal. But that is not the question before the Court on this appeal. The correct question is this: Appellants have no evidence to support the required element that refusal to find R&O to be the *alter ego* of Orluff would sanction fraud or promote an injustice other than their highly-tenuous argument that, theoretically, if R&O isn't liable for Orluff's alleged torts they may not get paid. The link to even theoretical "injustice" here is tenuous at best—Appellants have no direct claim against R&O, and, indeed, do not allege that R&O has done *anything* wrong. Does the theoretical possibility that a judgment may be entered against Orluff, and then the further theoretical possibility that Orluff may not be able to pay whatever this

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